IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-947

NORBERTO PIETRI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar #0066850

M. CHANCE MEYER Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #0056362

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR MR. PIETRI

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination pursuant to the standard established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which does not permit a federal court to reverse a state court ruling on constitutional grounds simply because the federal court disagrees or the federal court thinks the state court was wrong, but rather requires what is treated as an extremely high level of deference to state court rulings, prohibiting federal courts from altering state court judgments and sentences unless the application of federal law by the state court, which in the Porter case was Strickland, was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or a rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Porter must be read. When asking whether Porter requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in Porter found this Court's application of *Strickland* to be so unreasonable that the United States Supreme Court found it appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Pietri asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, giving *Porter* a read-through and asking if this case is distinguishable may be insufficient to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Pietri asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or was it in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that occurred also in the present case.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Case history

The Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, Judge Marvin U. Mounts presiding, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death at issue in this case. Following Mr. Pietri's conviction for first degree murder (R. 2673, 3603), the penalty phase of Mr. Pietri's trial occurred on February 22, 1990. The jury voted in favor of death by a margin of eight-to-four (R. 3099-3102). The court sentenced Mr. Pietri to death (R1. 3133). This Court struck the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated and premeditated but held it to be harmless error and affirmed. *Pietri v. State*, 644 So.
2d 1347 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Pietri's petition to the United States Supreme Court was denied on June 19, 1995. *Pietri v. Florida*, 515 U.S. 1147 (1995).

On March 3, 2000, after several initial filings, Mr. Pietri filed a final consolidated motion to vacate (PCR1. 4547-4673). The lower court granted a limited evidentiary hearing (PCR1. 4863), after which, on August 27, 2002, the court denied all relief in a one-page order, stating simply that "[a] copy of the State's [post-evidentiary hearing memorandum] is incorporated by reference and made a part of the record." (PCR1. 6902); *Pietri v. State*, 885 So. 2d 245, 251 (Fla. 2004) (quoting trial court order). This Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Pietri's motion for postconviction relief. *Id.* at 251-72.

Mr. Pietri's federal habeas petition was denied on April 18, 2008. The United States Supreme Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed.

Mr. Pietri filed the present successive motion for postconviction relief on November 29, 2010. The circuit court denied relief (PCR2. 183-85), and Mr. Pietri timely filed a notice of appeal. The present appeal follows.

Facts relevant to the underlying Strickland claim

The defense argued during the guilt phase that Mr. Pietri did not form premeditated intent (R. 2538). However, the only witness called by the defense at

3

the guilt phase of the trial was Mr. Pietri. Lead trial and direct appeal counsel Peter Birch testified in postconviction proceedings that he could not recall why he failed to call other witnesses at the guilt phase to support or bolster Mr. Pietri's testimony (PCR1. 6098). He believed that there was no premeditation and that the facts supported his position, so he did not view the case as one where his goal was to negate premeditation (PCR1. 6115). He testified that his defense in Mr. Pietri's case was "that there was no premeditation, this was second degree murder" and that "the conduct of Norberto Pietri was not that of someone who was engaged in a premeditated killing (PCR1. 6164-65). He did not recall ever having a conversation with Mr. Pietri specifically involving a decision not to use an intoxication defense (PCR. 6168).

Mr. Birch testified that the preparation for Mr. Pietri's testimony about his drug use at the guilt phase was Donnie Murrell's responsibility (PCR1. 6150). Trial counsel Donnie Murrell testified in postconviction that his view of the guilt phase was that it was a "classic second degree murder" case, involving the "irrational actions of a dope addict" (PCR1. 6197). He testified that his goal in his direct examination of Mr. Pietri was to negate premeditation (PCR1. 6197). He described voluntary intoxication as "a sub-theme of our entire defense. I don't think it was ever the theory of defense that we, that we put our money on" (PCR1. 6202). He stated that there were witnesses he and Mr. Birch could have called at

the guilt phase who could have corroborated Mr. Pietri's substance abuse around the time of the shooting (PCR1. 6205). He stated that presenting corroborative witnesses at the guilt phase would have done no harm (PCR1. 6247).

Mr. Pietri's testimony concerned his personal history, his experience with life-long drug addiction and the events surrounding the crime, including his cocaine use and state of mind at the time of the shooting. He explained that he became addicted to cocaine and started committing robberies to support his habit (R. 2277-81). He testified about his arrests and incarcerations that occurred because of his desire for drugs and how he again became addicted to drugs once he was released from prison (R. 2285, 2325). Mr. Pietri testified that on the day of the crime, he pulled over at the direction of Officer Chappell and sat there feeling "frozen" (R. 2391). As Officer Chappell approached, Mr. Pietri grabbed the gun and shot but he did not think about trying to kill the officer and did not intend to kill him when he shot the gun (R.2391).

Mr. Birch testified that he and co-counsel Mr. Murrell, as of October 1989, had no specific plan for how to try the case (PCR1. 6067-68). He "never gave [an intoxication defense] serious consideration" (PCR1. 6095). He testified that "[b]ased on my knowledge of cocaine, which I admit was not extensive and based on my understanding of cocaine intoxication as a defense, I would have felt that he needed to be under the influence of cocaine, having ingested it earlier in the day for that to have any viable chance" (PCR1. 6096). He had never used an intoxication defense during his legal career (PCR1. 6097). At the time of the trial, he had a general understanding of the cocaine addiction withdrawal process as it related to intoxication and stated that his investigation had been deficient:

My thinking back then, as best as I could recall, would be that the influence of drugs would had to have been directed at that time by direct -- I mean, he is suffering from the influence of cocaine that he ingested earlier that day or the night before. So it wasn't like he had to have had much cocaine in his body. To be honest, I don't think I ever knew how much cocaine he had in his body on August 22, 1988.

(PCR1. 6097). Mr. Birch testified that he did not recall if he had questioned potential jurors about their feelings about the intoxication defense (PCR1. 6113).

Mr. Birch stated that until the day before the trial commenced he had attempted to plead out Mr. Pietri's case, and that in fact a plea agreement had been reached with the State for a life sentence plus 130 years for the additional felonies for which Mr. Pietri was charged (PCR1. 6142-43). Mr. Pietri had signed the plea agreement and was in full agreement to pleading guilty (PCR1. 6144). According to Mr. Birch, the father of the victim scuttled the plea to a life sentence (PCR1. 6143).

A defense psychologist, Dr. Harry Krop, had been appointed on December 22, 1989, about a month before the case initially went to trial (PCR1. 6074). Mr. Birch hired Dr. Krop primarily but not exclusively to assist counsel in the

preparation of the penalty phase (PCR1. 6074-75). Mr. Birch testified that the experts that he eventually presented at the penalty phase, social worker Jody Iodice and psychologist Dr. Caddy, were unknown to him at the time he was preparing the guilt phase case (PCR1. 6116).

Mr. Birch stated that he also had failed to depose or interview Mr. Pietri's brother, Luis Serrano, one of four people present at the Airport Hotel and the Aqua Hotel with Mr. Pietri doing drugs throughout the seven days after Mr. Pietri walked away from Lantana Correctional and around the time of the shooting (PCR1. 6110-11). He testified that he could not recall as to why he never interviewed or deposed Luis Serrano (R. 6170). Mr. Birch testified that he could recall no reason for his failure to investigate these witnesses to Mr. Pietri's drug use around the time of the offense, stating that "[w]e, obviously, thought calling No[r]berto himself was the way to go" (PCR1. 6112).

He testified that the depositions he took of Yoris Santana and Mickie Brantley [Serrano], two friends of Mr. Pietri who were staying with him at the hotels before the August 22, 1988 shooting, contained information about Mr. Pietri's substance abuse that would have been useful in supporting both a guilt phase intoxication defense and statutory and non-statutory mitigation (PCR1. 6099-6107). Mr. Birch testified he was aware that Randy Roberts was another of the "circle of friends" who was with Mr. Pietri before the shooting, that he failed to interview Mr. Roberts and, after he reviewed the police statements of Mr. Roberts, that the information therein about Mr. Pietri's addiction to rock cocaine and constant use of cocaine in the days before the murder would have been useful to present in support of an intoxication defense and penalty phase mitigation (PCR1. 6107-13).

Joriseli Santana testified at trial and at the evidentiary hearing on October 23, 2001 (PCR1. 6174-87). He testified that he was staying with Mr. Pietri, Luis Serrano, Mickie Brantley and Randy Roberts at the Airport Inn and the Acqua Motel from August 18 until August 24, 1988 (PCR1. 6177). Mr. Santana described Mr. Pietri as an "uncontrollable" crack cocaine user during the week he spent with Mr. Pietri before and after Officer Chappell was killed (PCR1. 6180-83). He agreed with his prior deposition that Mickie Brantley and Luis Serrano were also doing cocaine all the time with Pietri (PCR1. 6182). He described Pietri's behavior when he was smoking crack cocaine during the week at the two motels as "[1]ike somebody whose out of their mind" (PCR1. 6184).

Mr. Murrell testified that he never knew that Dr. Krop was retained to evaluate Mr. Pietri (PCR1. 6206-08). He did not recall ever talking to Dr. Krop or to Dr. Haynes for Mr. Pietri's case (PCR1. 6209). He had no experience using neuropharmacologists and no knowledge as to their expertise other than generally as substance abuse experts (PCR1. 6210). Mr. Birch also testified that at the time

8

of the trial he did not know the field of neuropharmacology existed (PCR1. 6172). Mr. Murrell testified that at the time of Mr. Pietri's trial he knew very little about psychological testing (PCR1. 6211). He was appointed to the case only about ninety days before they went to trial (PCR1. 6213). Mr. Murrell did not recall ever discussing with Mr. Birch the possibility of using Jody Iodice as an expert about cocaine addiction at the guilt phase (PCR1. 6214). However, he testified that Ms. Iodice's penalty phase testimony about cocaine abuse was potentially relevant to the issue of premeditation (PCR1. 6220). Similarly, he testified that it would have been useful to get Dr. Caddy's proffered testimony at the penalty phase that Mr. Pietri did not have the specific intent to kill before the jury at the guilt phase (PCR1. 6241). He testified that if Dr. Caddy had been available at the guilt phase, he would have supplied him with the evidence that helped to establish that Mr. Pietri was suffering from cocaine withdrawal at the time of the offense (PCR1. 6244). Mr. Murrell testified that as to the guilt phase and the penalty phase, they were unprepared because they did not have experts (PCR1. 6265).

Mr. Murrell testified that Mr. Pietri's family members were not called at the guilt phase because he did not think their accounts of Mr. Pietri's drug binging "were sufficient to make a jury understand that the intent could not be formed" (PCR1. 6245).

The defense called eight witnesses at the penalty phase. They included four of Mr. Pietri's siblings: William Pietri, Marino Pietri, Ramona Rivera and Ada Liddell. In addition the defense called Yoris Santana, who had been with Mr. Pietri around the time of the offense; Roger Paul, a prison minister who visited Mr. Pietri in the Palm Beach County Jail; and two experts, Jody Iodice, a licensed clinical social worker who never met with Mr. Pietri and Glen Ross Caddy, a clinical psychologist who interviewed Mr. Pietri the day before he testified.

Mr. Birch testified in postconviction that it was his "guess" that Virginia Snyder, the only paid investigator who worked on the case, probably did no work on the penalty phase of the case (PCR1. 6066). He stated that he did not have a paid investigator working on the penalty phase (PCR1. 6125). He testified that he recalled receiving a letter from Dr. Krop after Dr. Krop met with Mr. Pietri and that he was "extremely disappointed in the outcome of his evaluation" (PCR1. 6077-79). He acknowledged that Dr. Krop had asked in his letter for additional background materials that he never provided to Dr. Krop. Mr. Birch did not provide Dr. Krop with the depositions and police statements of Mickie Brantley, Randy Roberts or Yoris Santana or with any background materials about Mr. Pietri's drug problems in prison (PCR1. 6116). He testified that his recollection was that he believed at the time that "[Dr. Krop] would not be ideal for Phase II [the penalty phase]" (PCR1. 6079). Mr. Birch reviewed his motion for payment of

expert fees (PCR1. 6121) and testified that it documented that the initial telephone consultation with Dr. Caddy was five days prior to the penalty phase, and that Dr. Caddy's evaluation of Mr. Pietri took place on the day before the penalty phase hearing began (PCR1. 6122). Mr. Birch was unable to say what if any psychological testing was performed by Dr. Caddy (R. 6124). He testified that he did not personally prep either Dr. Caddy or Jody Iodice for their testimony (R. 6124). He was "pretty sure" that expert Jody Iodice never met with Mr. Pietri because "the focus of her testimony had to do with addiction in general and not specifically Norberto" (PCR1. 6125). If he had examined the defense experts at the penalty phase, he would have attempted to elicit statutory mitigation from them (PCR1. 6126). He did not believe that at the trial he had obtained four different Department of Corrections ("DOC") records that he agreed were evidence that Mr. Pietri had substance abuse problems while he was incarcerated, including the reported use of cocaine "a couple of days" before his final walkaway from Lantana Correctional (PCR1. 6127-6132). If he had had these DOC reports of drug use by Mr. Pietri, he would have provided them to Dr. Caddy (PCR1. 6133).

Mr. Murrell testified in postconviction that the Pietri case was his first capital case and his first work on a penalty phase (PCR1. 6190). Although his assignment was not clearly broken down, generally he was working on the penalty phase of the case (PCR1. 6193). Neither he nor Mr. Birch travelled to Mr. Pietri's

11

homeland, Puerto Rico, and he had minimal contact with investigator Virginia Snyder (PCR1. 6194). Mr. Murrell testified that Ms. Iodice never met with Mr. Pietri or any of his family members (PCR1. 6216). He examined her at Mr. Pietri's penalty phase, but he never asked her about the presence of statutory or nonstatutory mitigation in Mr. Pietri's case (PCR1. 6216-17). Mr. Murrell did not recall having Mr. Pietri's prison records regarding drug use at the time of the trial (PCR1. 6221-23). He agreed that if he had been aware of the records, they would have been useful to experts and as evidence before the jury at both the guilt phase and at the penalty phase, especially in light of the trial court's sentencing order finding no mitigation (PCR1. 6224). He was "almost a hundred percent certain" that he was unaware at the time of trial that there was a DOC report of Mr. Pietri using cocaine days before the escape from Lantana Correctional (PCR1. 6226).

He testified that Dr. Caddy did not do any psychological testing (PCR1. 6227). He stated that Dr. Caddy's evaluation of Mr. Pietri the day before he testified at the penalty phase was at "the 11th hour and 30 minutes" (PCR1. 6236). During his examination of Dr. Caddy, Dr. Caddy indicated no knowledge of Mr. Pietri's drug use in prison (PCR1. 6239). Mr. Murrell testified that "Caddy was hand strung. He did not have the time to do what he needed to do correctly" (PCR1. 6239). Based on his review of his billing statement, Mr. Murrell testified that neither he nor

Peter Birch met Dr. Caddy face to face until the morning of the day he testified at Mr. Pietri's penalty phase (PCR1. 6243).

Caddy didn't have any of the things that he needed. He had a three hour meeting with our client and that's it. He did no testing, he had nothing to corroborate what our client told him. He had no – didn't read the depositions, no opportunity to read the police reports. He didn't have anything he needed to make an informed opinion. I think, I think it completely destroyed his credibility.

(PCR1. 6244).

Mr. Murrell testified that he and Birch misused Jody Iodice by not having her meet and interview Mr. Pietri (PCR1. 6250). His testimony summarized his view of their presentation of Dr. Caddy in the circumstances where he was unable to do "a complete psychological work-up:" "The State was able to just cut him down at the knees because he had nothing to corroborate what he sat there and talked about other than our client's statements to him and [an] interview with one sister" (PCR1. 6251). Mr. Murrell testified that after reviewing his opening statement at the penalty phase, it "certainly looks like" his comments were focused on Mr. Pietri's use of cocaine (PCR1. 6253).

Mr. Murrell testified that Dr. Caddy's testimony at the penalty phase regarding Mr. Pietri allegedly telling him that he "aimed" the gun at the victim, was the result of lack of preparation time with Dr. Caddy (PCR1. 6344). He described the testimony as "totally inconsistent with anything else we had

13

presented, argued or ever heard. I think Caddy, frankly, made a mistake in what he thinks the client told him" (PCR1. 6344). On re-cross, Mr. Murrell said that he was uncertain if Dr. Caddy's subsequent testimony that Mr. Pietri's actions were "a psychotic reacted decision" undid the damage caused by his prior "picked up the gun and aimed it" testimony (PCR1. 6347). In response to a question from the lower court, Mr. Murrell described the performance of himself and Mr. Birch at the penalty phase as "woefully inadequate" (PCR1. 6351).

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