IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-947

NORBERTO PIETRI

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

••••••

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

The references to 28 U.S.C. §2254(d) in <u>Strickland</u> concern the provisions of the statute before the adoption of AEDPA in 1996. Under the federal habeas statute as it existed at that time, a federal court was required to defer to a state court factual if it was made after a "full and fair" hearing and "fairly supported by the record." 28 U.S.C. §2254(d) (1984). After the enactment of AEDPA, the deference given to state court factual findings was heightened and moved. <u>See</u> 28 U.S.C. §2254(e)(1) (requiring a federal court to presume a state court factual finding correct unless the defendant presents clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption).

overruled this expressed and direct language from $\underline{Strickland}$ in Porter.

Pietri does not contend that the United States Supreme Court overruled this portion of Strickland. This Court's precedent on the standard of review is entirely consistent with this portion of Strickland, and Pietri's attempt to argue a contrary position is without any support. The trial court's determination that Porter did not change the law and that the motion was barred as a result was proper and should be affirmed.

Although Pietri argues that the Court overruled Strickland's requirement of deference to factual findings made in the course of resolving claims of ineffectiveness claims, such an argument is meritless. (IB at 39-41). Porter makes no mention of this portion of Strickland. More importantly, Porter does not even suggest that it was improper for a reviewing court to defer to factual findings made in resolving an ineffective assistance claim. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 448-56.

Instead, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Porter</u> characterized the opinion of the state trial court and this Court as having found there was no statutory mitigation established and there was no prejudice from the failure to present nonstatutory mitigation. <u>Porter</u>, 130 S.Ct. at 451. Under the standard of review mandated by <u>Strickland</u>, and followed by this Court, the first of these findings was a factual finding

but the second was not. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698. Rather than determine that this Court's factual finding was not binding, the United States Supreme Court seems to have accepted those factual findings, but determined that this Court had acted unreasonably by not making factual findings about nonstatutory mental health mitigation and making an unreasonable conclusion on the mixed question of fact and law regarding prejudice. Id. at 454-56. Hence, in order to find that Porter overruled Stephens and its progeny, this Court would have to find that the United States Supreme Court overruled itself sub silencio in a case where the Court appears to have applied the allegedly overruled law. However, this Court is not empowered to make such a finding, as this Court has itself recognized. Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693, 694 (Fla. 2002). Thus, the trial court properly determined that Porter did not change the law. 3.851(d)(2)(B) does not provide a basis for review of a timebarred claim. The denial of relief should be affirmed.

Also, Pietri's reliance on <u>Sears v. Upton</u>, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010) to bolster this position is misplaced. In <u>Sears</u>, the state postconviction court found constitutionally deficient attorney performance under <u>Strickland</u>. Because Sears' counsel presented some, but not all of the significant mitigation evidence the court felt competent counsel should have uncovered,

the state court mistakenly determined that it could not "speculate" as to what the effect of additional evidence would have been and denied relief. On appeal, the Georgia Supreme Court, without explanation, summarily affirmed the lower court's postconviction finding that it was unable to assess whether trial counsel's deficient performance and resulting inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears. Id. at 3261. In reversing, the United States Supreme Court did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Rather, the Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings about the evidence presented. Id. at 3261. Hence, Sears does not support the assertion that the making of findings giving deference when reviewing those findings or inappropriate.

Pietri also seems to suggest that <u>Porter</u> requires a court to grant relief on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based solely on a finding that some evidence to support prejudice was presented at a postconviction evidentiary hearing regardless of what mitigation was presented at trial, how incredible the new evidence is, how much negative information the new evidence would have caused to be presented at trial, or how aggravated the case was. However, <u>Porter</u> itself states that

this is not the standard for assessing prejudice. Instead, the United States Supreme Court stated that determining prejudice required a court to "consider 'the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding' - and reweig[h] it against the evidence in aggravation." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 453-54 (quoting Williams, 536 U.S. at 397-98).

Furthermore, in <u>Wong v. Belmontes</u>, 130 S.Ct. 383, 386-91 (2009), the United States Supreme Court reversed the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals for finding prejudice by ignoring the mitigation evidence already presented, the cumulative nature of the new evidence, the negative information that would have been presented had the new evidence been presented, and the aggravated nature of the crime. The Supreme Court noted that this error was probably caused by the Ninth Circuit's failure to require that the defendant meet his burden of affirmatively proving prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 390-91. Similarly in <u>Bobby v. Van Hook</u>, 130 S.Ct. 13, 19-20 (2009), the Supreme Court reversed the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals for finding prejudice without considering the mitigation already presented at trial, the cumulative nature of the evidence presented in postconviction, and the aggravated nature of the crime.

Given what $\underline{\text{Porter}}$ says about proving prejudice and taken in conjunctions with $\underline{\text{Belmontes}}$ and $\underline{\text{Van Hook}}$, $\underline{\text{Pietri's suggestion}}$

that <u>Porter</u> requires a finding of prejudice anytime a defendant presents some evidence at a postconviction hearing is simply false. <u>Porter</u> did not change the law announced in <u>Strickland</u> that requires that a defendant actually prove there is a reasonable probability of a different result.⁶ Again, as <u>Porter</u> did not change the law, the finding that the motion was time barred was proper and the summary denial of relief should be affirmed.

Even if Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) did apply to this situation and Porter had changed the law, the trial court still would have properly denied the motion because Porter would not apply retroactively. As Pietri admits, the determination of whether a change in law is retroactive is controlled by Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). Also, as Pietri acknowledges, in order to obtain retroactive application of the law under Witt, he was required to show: (1) the change in law emanated from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) fundamental constitutional in nature; and (3) was of

⁶ Using Pietri's batch of red and green apples analogy (IB at 43-48), the task of determining prejudice involves taking the red and green apples as they existed from the time of trial, determining whether the new evidence actually adds any new red or new green apples based on whether they are support by credible, non-cumulative evidence, adding both the new red apples and new green apples and deciding whether the defendant has proven that the total amount of red apples outweigh the total green apples. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 453-54; Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695-96.

significance. <u>Id.</u> at 929-30. To meet the third element of this test, the change in the law must (1) "place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of <u>Stovall</u> and <u>Linkletter</u>." <u>Id</u>. at 929. Application of this three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So.2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

While here, Pietri admits that a change in law is not retroactive under <u>Witt</u> unless this standard is met, he makes no attempt to show how the alleged change in law meets this standard. In fact, he never clearly identifies what change <u>Porter</u> made, offers no purpose behind that alleged change in law, and does not mention how extensive the reliance on the allegedly old law was or what the effect on the administration of justice would be. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly found that Pietri failed to establish that the change in law he alleges occurred would be retroactive under <u>Witt</u>. The claim should be rejected and the summary denial affirmed.

Instead of attempting to show that the change in law he alleges occurred meets $\underline{\text{Witt}}$, Pietri points to the fact that this Court found Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) to be

retroactive, and he implies that because both cases involved findings of error in Florida cases, the change in law he alleges occurred in <u>Porter</u> should be too. However, the mere fact that this Court found a change in law based on a determination that this Court had made an error to meet the <u>Witt</u> standard in one case does not dictate that a finding that this Court committed a different error in a different case would constitute a change in law that satisfies <u>Witt</u> in a different case. This is particularly true when one considers the difference in the errors found in <u>Hitchcock</u> and <u>Porter</u> and the relationship between those errors and the Witt standard.

In <u>Hitchcock</u>, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the United States Supreme Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All a reviewing court needed to do was consider the jury instructions that had been given in a

particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See, State v. Glenn, 558 So.2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990) (refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in Hitchcock militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast and as noted above, <u>Porter</u> involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Hence, the purpose of <u>Porter</u> was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the trial court found, there is nothing to show <u>Porter</u> changed the standard of review from <u>Strickland</u> and a review of this Court's jurisprudence shows that it has relied upon Strickland extensively as recognized in Stephens. Moreover, the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in <u>Porter</u> retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given the above noted stark differences in the analysis of changes in law in <u>Porter</u> and <u>Hitchcock</u> and their relationship to

Witt factors, the trial court properly determined Pietri did not show that the alleged change in law from Porter would be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concern the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So.2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the fact that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the trial court properly found that this motion was time barred and this Court should affirm.

Moreover, it should be remembered that Pietri's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is procedurally barred. He is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel for not presenting mitigation that he had raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost. See Pietri, 885 So.2d at 258-67 (addressing ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel).

See also Pietri, 641 D.3d at 1284-88 (agreeing with Florida Supreme Court that "Pietri cannot show that his penalty-phase

counsel were unconstitutionally ineffective."). As this Court held, such attempts to relitigate claims previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So.2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Pietri cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate State v. McBride, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). court. It is also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Given that this is precisely what Pietri is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was denied correctly. See Topps v. State, 865 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and

<u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>." <u>Marek</u>, 8 So.3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found that under the AEDPA standard of review the state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was procedurally barred and that determination should be affirmed.

Again, even if Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, <u>Porter</u> had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive, and the claim was not procedurally barred, Pietri still would not be entitled to relief. As this Court recognized in <u>Witt</u>, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So.2d at 930-31. Moreover, as the Court recognized in <u>Strickland</u>, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

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